THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ALLENDALE COUNTY
Circuit Court

Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-000905

J. Morgan Kears, Personal Representative of the Estate of G.H. Kears Appellant,

v.

The Kears Family Education Trust, William Gordon Kears,
Elizabeth Kears Gooding, Julia Kears Sharp, Rachael Kears
Best, Joseph Weber Kears, and John Morgan Kears, of which
all are named individually and as Trustees of the Kears Family
Education Trust U/A/D Nov. 05, 1992 Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Kenneth B. Wingate
Matthew J. Myers
Sweeny, Wingate & Barrow, P.A.
Post Office Box 12129
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 256-2233

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Probate Court err in holding that the parties to this matter reached a binding settlement?
- II. Did the Probate Court err in otherwise ordering Appellant to comply with the terms of the invalid settlement agreement?
- III. Did the Circuit Court err in dismissing this appeal based on Appellant's lack of standing as Personal Representative?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal concerns two basic injustices perpetrated against Appellant, the estate he represents, and a trust that has had no representation. The first injustice is the imposition of a settlement agreement upon the Appellant, the estate, and trust, none of whom agreed to the settlement in accordance with South Carolina law, and which would require Appellant and, possibly also the estate, to pay undetermined amounts of money in legal fees, and also affect the rights and obligations of the trust. The second injustice is the denial of Appellant's right to challenge the order imposing the settlement on the basis that Appellant supposedly lacks standing to do so. Each issue is addressed in turn following a summary of the relevant procedural and factual history.

This matter begins with the death of G.H. Kears (‐Decedent‐) on June 10, 2013, who was survived by his wife and six children. Decedent's duly probated last will and testament named all six children as co-personal representatives and left his residuary to the separately created Kears Educational Trust U/A/D November 5, 1992 (the ‐Trust‐). (R. pp. 307-325; 730-35). Rather than all six children serving as co-personal representatives, the children agreed that brother Morgan Kears (‐Appellant‐) would serve as sole Personal Representative, and the Allendale County Probate Court (the ‐Probate Court‐) appointed him as such. (R. p. 737). For its part, the Trust was established to preserve the family farm and use other available Trust property for payment of

educational expenses of Decedent's descendants. (R. pp. 309). All six of Decedent's children have served as Co-Trustees from the Trust's inception through the present day. (R. pp. 322-24).

Early on in his duties as Personal Representative, Appellant encountered an interpretational problem with regard to Decedent's will. Item VI of the will purported to give "all my monies" to build a house modeled after Gunston Hall in Lorton, Virginia, unless otherwise needed to pay ad valorem taxes for the Trust property. (R. p. 303). Item VI did not name a recipient, but stated "I direct that my six (6) children build the house." *Id.* In possible conflict, Item VIII of the will specifically gave "any monies in any banks, bonds, or any cash in my possession" to the Trust. Furthermore, the location of the house specified in Item VI was on property that was held by the Trust as of Decedent's death.¹ (R. p. 304).

Accordingly, there was and remains an interpretational dilemma as to whether Decedent's probate "monies" should be paid to the Trust or to the six children individually and, in either case, whether Decedent's directive to build the house was merely precatory or could be construed as an amendment to the Trust. With regard to the latter point, Appellant and two of his siblings thought the directive should be followed and three did not, with at least one of Appellant's siblings on each side threatening to litigate regardless of what was done. (R. p. 157, ¶¶ 2-3).² Finding himself in an impossible situation and having a fiduciary duty to carry out the terms of Decedent's will, Appellant therefore relied on the advice of his legal counsel Kenneth Wingate, who has been a Certified Specialist in Estate Planning and Probate Law for many years, to file a Petition For Instructions so

¹ The only other specific bequest in Decedent's will, which is not at issue here, was to allow Appellant to use Decedent's office contents for as long as Appellant continued practicing law, and then to other heirs who do the same. (R. p. 302).

² Appellant's Affidavit and its Exhibit were properly to the Probate Court pursuant to Rule 6(d), SCRC, as part of Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend or, in the Alternate, for a New Hearing.

that the Probate Court could direct Appellant as to the proper interpretation of Decedent's will.³ (R. p. 157, ¶ 4).

In response to the Petition, siblings Elizabeth Gooding and Julia Sharp (referred to herein as "Respondents") asked the Probate Court to rule that the house may not be built, with Respondent Gooding filing an Answer to the Petition for Instruction and Motion for Summary Judgement, and Respondent Sharp filing a Motion to Dismiss. (R. pp. 84-86; 116-18). As a result of their stern resistance, the siblings who were in favor of honoring their father's wishes relented, and so Appellant filed a Motion to Dismiss his own Petition for Instruction, which he could not do unilaterally under Rule 41(a)(1), SCRCP after the Respondents' filings. (R. pp. 121-23; 157, ¶ 5).

The Probate Court scheduled a hearing for Appellant's Motion to Dismiss the Petition for Instruction and Respondent Gooding's Motion for Summary Judgement on February 2, 2017. (R. p. 124). By appointment of the South Carolina Supreme Court, the Honorable Judge Sheila B. Odom presided as Special Probate Judge for all litigation involving the Estate. (R. p. 7).

At 9pm on January 31, 2017, just one business day prior to the hearing, counsel for Respondent Sharp emailed a document entitled "Final Term Sheet" to counsel for Appellant and counsel for Respondent Gooding. (R. pp. 622-24). The terms of the Final Term Sheet may be fairly summarized as follows:

³ See S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-20 ("Courts of record within their respective jurisdictions shall have power to declare rights, status and other legal relations whether or not further relief is or could be claimed."); S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-301(a)(1) (giving the probate court broad jurisdiction over estate matters); S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-105 (allowing interested persons to petition the probate court for orders within the court's jurisdiction); S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-201(a)(1) (giving the probate court broad jurisdiction over trustees, including an action to "instruct trustees").

- Item 1: Appellant would immediately resign as Personal Representative and A.G. Solomons, or another neutral non-family member appointed by the Probate Court, would become Special Administrator.
- Item 2: set Appellant's Personal Representative fee at \$25,000.
- Item 3: Appellant to pay Respondent Sharp's legal fee in defense of the Petition for Instructions.
- Item 4: Appellant responsible for legal fees of Respondent Gooding and his own legal fees as Personal Representative; provided, however, that if three of the five other siblings besides Appellant did not object, Appellant may ask the Estate to pay these.
- Item 5: Respondent Sharp does not object to Appellant using Decedent's office rent free as long as Appellant practices law therein, maintains the property, and carries sufficient hazard insurance.
- Item 6: the Trust to purchase home of Decedent's surviving spouse for \$89,000.

Although there was no legal or factual justification for imposing these legal fees on Appellant,⁴ Appellant was willing to absorb Respondent Sharp's legal fees for the good of the family and the Estate if, and only if, three of the other siblings would agree to let the Estate pay the legal fees for Appellant and Respondent Gooding, pursuant to Item 4 of the Final Term Sheet. (R. pp. 157-58, ¶¶ 6-15). Accordingly, Appellant sought and received oral affirmation from siblings Rachael Best, Gordon Kears, and Joseph Kears (referred to herein as the "Pro Se Respondents"). *Id.* Appellant then prepared a simple written supplemental agreement that would have (1) confirmed approval of the Final Term Sheet by the Pro Se Respondents and (2) confirmed that a majority of his siblings did not oppose the Estate's payment of the legal fees of Appellant and

⁴ See S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-720 (requiring payment by the estate of a personal representative's fees and expenses for defending or prosecuting a matter in good faith).

Respondent Gooding. Id. Appellant also discussed this supplemental agreement with the Pro Se Respondents and understood that each agreed to the same. Id.

With this understanding, Appellant's counsel emailed Respondents' counsel on February 2, 2017 to indicate that Appellant was agreeable to having the Final Term Sheet entered on the record at the hearing and would notify the Probate Court. (R. pp. 633-34). Respondent Sharp's counsel then responded to ask that Appellant's counsel please notify the Probate Court that "all the other siblings have agreed to the settlement. I can only speak for [Respondent Sharp] and Steve can only speak for [Respondent Gooding]." (R. p. 633). In addition, Respondent Gooding's counsel emailed to say "[c]andidly, I would prefer that all interested parties, including [Appellant] and each of his siblings be present to place on the record their consent to this Agreement" (R. p. 632). Appellant's counsel responded that "I'm in the process of obtaining signatures from [the Pro Se Respondents] to indicate their consent. I'll confirm to you when we have them in hand." (R. p. 631). Near the end of the day, Appellant's counsel sent a final email stating his understanding that the Pro Se Parties "are each signing the agreement this afternoon, and I'll have copies of their signatures with me at the hearing." Id.

In addition, Appellant emailed a letter to the Probate Court indicating his belief that all parties had reached a settlement. (R. p. 793). However, this letter was never introduced as evidence at the February 2, 2017 hearing.⁵ (R. pp. 589-642). Further, the letter did not specifically incorporate the Final Term Sheet or discuss the terms thereof except that Appellant would resign as Personal Representative, that an "agreed-upon" special administrator would be appointed (which was not technically in accord with the Final Term Sheet), and that pending pleadings would be withdrawn (which was not in the Final Term Sheet at all). (R. p. 793). Finally, at no time did

⁵ Respondents' counsel discussed the letter at the hearing, but they were not testifying and, if they had been, such statement would be hearsay. (R. pp. 601-02).

Appellant or his counsel represent to anyone that either could speak on behalf of the Pro Se Parties, or the Trust for which all of the siblings were and are Trustees, or that the Final Term Sheet could otherwise be official and binding without adequately confirming everyone's consent pursuant to South Carolina law. In fact, it was Respondents' counsel themselves that raised that concern. (R. pp. 632-33).

Unfortunately, however, Appellant learned after close of business on February 1, 2017 that one of the Pro Se Respondents now refused to sign Appellant's supplemental agreement, which was a necessary condition of Appellant's agreement with the Final Term Sheet, and so Appellant informed his counsel that there was in fact no agreement regarding the Final Term Sheet. (R. p. 158, ¶¶ 12 & 14). Due to the last minute nature of these developments, Appellant's counsel first informed the Court of this non-agreement at the February 2, 2017 hearing. (R. p. 158 ¶ 14). In addition, because there was no longer an agreement providing for Appellant's resignation, Appellant signed a separate Statement of Resignation indicating his intent to resign pursuant to South Carolina law.⁶ (R. p. 145).

As to the Statement of Resignation, Appellant's counsel noted "[n]ow, as the Code indicates and as Your Honor is aware, a Personal Representative cannot automatically resign" (R. p. 595, lns. 12-14). The Probate Court subsequently acknowledged as much, stating, "Mr. Wingate, as his attorney, you did read this statute per se without reading it verbally that there are requirements of [Appellant] to give notice of his resignation and formal process and to obtain the acceptance of Mr. Solomons, and we need to reconvene on a hearing on that matter. I expect that you will so file those documents as necessary." (R. p. 609, lns. 7-13). Although Appellant's counsel described Appellant's resignation as being "irrevocable," this statement was meant within the stated context

⁶ See S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-610(b) (providing by which a personal representative may resign).

that there is a statutory process that must be followed to remove Appellant as Personal Representative, and that Appellant did not have the unilateral authority to resign without such process being completed.

As for the Final Term Sheet, Appellant's counsel's declaration of the non-agreement was unequivocal: "As we stand here this morning, I'm afraid to announce to the Court that two things have changed. Number one, I have not been provided copies of any document from the pro se litigants consenting to the settlement, so whereas I was told that I would be able to present that to you, I do not have that and cannot present it to you." (R. p. 593, lns. 14-20). And specifically as to Appellant, "his position will be that he does not consent to the settlement." (R. p. 595, lns. 14-16). "His position, however, is what I have said....he does not consent." (R. p. 595, lns. 23-25).⁷

In response, Respondents put the Final Term Sheet on the record, including evidence that it was signed by Respondents and Gordon Kears, as well as the email communications prior to the hearing between counsel for Appellant and Respondents. Ultimately, however, the Final Term Sheet was signed by only three of the six siblings – Respondents and Gordon Kears – and no other persons. (R. pp. 636-41). Furthermore, neither Appellant nor Rachael Best or Joseph Kears attended the hearing to otherwise express assent to the Final Term Sheet. (R. p. 9). Consequently, the Final Term Sheet was also not approved by a majority of the Trustees of the Trust directly impacted by the Final Term Sheet and, regardless, at no point did any person purport to approve the Final Term Sheet on behalf of the Trust. (R. pp. 8-13; 589-642).

⁷ Respondents have argued that Appellant acquiesced to the Final Term Sheet as a binding settlement by stating that "I am certain Your Honor will hear arguments today that once I have represented to the Court yesterday that we had a settlement that ... my client would be bound to that. That very well may be what you decide." (R. p. 595, lns. 18-22). However, this is nothing more than an acknowledgement that the Probate Court may or may not make such ruling; not that Appellant would agree with the Probate Court. This is particularly evident given that the statement was directly preceded and followed by Appellant's clear denial of a settlement.

For its part, the Probate Court acknowledged that the siblings were no longer in agreement with the proposed settlement and stated it was going to accept the Final Term Sheet on the record and accept Appellant's statement of resignation:

Being the – what I would refer to as the 11th hour that this is not an agreed upon by all parties exclusively agreement any longer, the Court is left in a conundrum because I have nothing further from [Appellant] what all of a sudden he doesn't agree to specifically in the agreement, and having found – this particular time with nothing further on that except that he just is going to resign and doesn't agree and all the parties having been present this morning to present this agreement,⁸ the Court finds no other way at this point to move forward other than to, A, accept the agreement into the record, and, B, accept the appointment of resignation of [Appellant].

(R. p. 608, lns. 18-25; p. 610, lns. 1-6). Nevertheless, although not understood by Appellant's counsel at the time, the Probate Court intended that the Final Term Sheet be accepted as a binding settlement when it stated "the Court is going to enter into the record that this Final Term Sheet of agreement be filed as a family agreement and that the record will reflect that the order provided to this court on behalf of either [Respondents] to state that this order will be entered into the record and accepted on the terms as it is on the face of the agreement itself." (R. p. 609, lns. 14-22).

Ultimately, Respondent Sharp did submit a proposed order that specifically adopted the Final Term Sheet as a binding settlement, stating "the Court entered into the record the Final Term Sheet of Agreement as a family agreement and stated that an Order would be entered into the record and accepted on the terms as it is on the face of the agreement itself." (R. pp. 11; 794-800). The Order was executed by the Probate Court on February 27, 2017, served by letter dated March 3, 2017, and received by Appellant on March 6, 2017. (R. pp. 12-13).

On March 16, 2017, Appellant served a Motion to Alter or Amend or, in the Alternate, for a New Hearing. (R. pp. 147-59). Appellant's motion objected to the February 27, 2017 Order in its

⁸ Appellant believes the Probate Court intended to say "all the parties [not] having been present," as the record shows only Respondents were personally in attendance.

entirety and the Probate Court's approval of the Final Term Sheet in its entirety, including but not limited to its termination of Appellant as Personal Representative and the appointment of a Special Administrator. Appellant also noted that he remained willing to resign and have a Special Administrator appointed if the remaining portions of the Final Term Sheet were stricken. (R. p. 155). However, the Probate Court did not strike any portion of the Final Term Sheet and, therefore, Appellant's objection to February 27, 2017 Order and Final Term Sheet in their entirety remain pending. (R. pp. 8-13).

Soon thereafter, on March 20, 2017, Judge Odom wrote counsel for Respondent Sharp with copy to other counsel and pro se parties to inform them "Mr. Harley Ruff of Ruff & Ruff, LLC Beaufort, S.C. has graciously accepted to serve as the Special Administrator in the above matter. This Court did reach out to both Mr. A.G. Solomons, Jr. and Mr. Kevin Brown who both respectfully declined to serve in the capacity of Special Administrator." (R. p. 15). Further, "[t]his Court will notify the other counsel of record of this appointment, copy attached." *Id.* Attached to the letter was the Statement of Resignation that Appellant had previously signed and submitted to the Probate Court on February 2, 2017. (R. p. 14).

This notice from the Court had been anticipated based on the Court's recent February 27, 2017 Order, which specifically indicated that the Probate Court would contact A.G. Solomons to see if he would serve as special administrator and, if not, to appoint a different neutral non-family member. (R. pp. 11-12). Further, no separate procedure had been conducted for the appointment of a special administrator independently of the February 27, 2017 Order.⁹ Further still, the Statement of Resignation, as modified by the Probate Court with Mr. Ruff's name on March 20, 2017, was not file stamped with the Court as a separate document. (R. p. 14). Accordingly, Appellant had no

⁹ See S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-614.

reasonable basis to conclude anything except that Mr. Ruff's appointment was simply part of the Probate Court's February 2, 2017 Order.

After some delay, a hearing was scheduled for August 17, 2017 to hear Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend or, in the Alternate, for a New Hearing, which Appellant pursued in his capacity as Personal Representative. (R. p. 167). Prior to the hearing, on July 27, 2017, Appellant served an additional motion that was intended to resolve the various issues that would remain if the February 27, 2017 Order was vacated. (R. pp. 160-66). This was titled as a Motion to Dismiss Petition for Instruction, Confirm Resignation of Personal Representative and Appointment of Special Administrator, and Direct Payment of Legal Fees and Cost. On August 16, 2017, Respondent Gooding served a Memorandum in Opposition to Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend and, on August 15, 2017, served a Memorandum in Opposition to Appellant's additional motion dated July 27, 2017. (R. pp. 169-182).

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