**RECEIVED**

**Jun 15 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ALLENDALE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Lawton McIntosh

---

Case No. 2019-000905

---

J. Morgan Kears, Personal Representative of the Estate of G.H. Kears.....Appellant,

v.

The Kears Family Education Trust, William Gordon Kears,  
Elizabeth Kears Gooding, Julia Kears Sharp, Rachael Kears  
Best, Joseph Weber Kears, and John Morgan Kears, of which  
all are named individually and as Trustees of the Kears Family  
Education Trust U/A/D Nov. 05, 1992 ..... Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT  
JULIA KEARSE SHARP**

---

See authorities listed in Respondent Elizabeth Kears Gooding’s Initial Brief adopted by Respondent Julia Kears Sharp into her Initial Brief.

## COUNTER STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Circuit Court correctly dismissed the appeal because Appellant is not the personal representative of the Estate and lacks standing to appeal as personal representative?
- II. Whether the Circuit Court correctly held the probate court's order appointing a successor personal representative is the unappealed law of the case?
- III. Whether a source of authority other than that as personal representative confers standing to Appellant to act on behalf of the estate?
- IV. Whether there is a real-party-in-interest issue when all of the real parties in interest are named in the action and whether any such issue is untimely when Appellant raised it only after litigating his status to appeal?
- V. Whether the probate court correctly held the parties reached a binding settlement?
- VI. Whether the Court should affirm on an additional sustaining ground because Appellant did not bring the action in good faith?
- VII. Whether the Court should affirm on an additional sustaining ground because the Appellant had no authority to challenge the agreement that Morgan shall individually pay Julie's legal fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Petition for Instructions.
- VIII. Whether all of Appellant's references in this appeal to the Affidavit of the Appellant dated March 15, 2017, should be stricken, or in the alternative, the appeal should be remanded to the Probate Court because the Probate Court declined to consider the Affidavit and Appellant did not appeal that ruling.
- IX. Whether the Court should remand the action to the Circuit Court or the Probate Court because the Circuit Court specifically held that it had not decided any issue other than standing.
- X. Whether the Court should confirm on an additional sustaining ground because the Appellant lacks standing to appeal because the Personal Representative was not a party to the agreement.
- XI. Whether the Court should confirm on an additional sustaining ground because assuming *arguendo* that Morgan was still the Personal Representative at the motions hearing on February 2, 2017, as he now claims, then the settlement agreement should be enforced because, although his counsel was present throughout the hearing and chose not to argue, or present any evidence, or seek a postponement
- XII. Whether the Court should dismiss the appeal because no Individual Respondent who was a party to the agreement opposed the enforcement of the agreement.

## COUNTER STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **A. Background**

G.H. Kearsé ["**Decedent**" or "**Mr. Kearsé**"] died testate on June 10, 2013. He was survived by six children: William Gordon Kearsé ["**Gordon**"], Elizabeth Kearsé Gooding ["**Beth**"], Julia Kearsé Sharp ["**Julie**"], Rachael Kearsé Best ["**Rachael**"], Joseph Weber Kearsé ["**Joseph**"], and John Morgan Kearsé ["**Morgan**"].<sup>1</sup>

### **B. The Appointment**

On October 23, 2013, the Allendale County Probate Court issued "Fiduciary Letters" ["**Fiduciary Letters**"] appointing Morgan as the sole Personal Representative ["**Personal Representative**" or sometimes referred to as "**PR**"]. (R. pp. 736-37).

### **C. The Will**

Mr. Kearsé's Last Will & Testament, dated May 16, 2011 ["**Will**"] (R. pp. 730-35), expressed a "wish and desire" that his six children build a house on the Kearsé Farm, located in rural Allendale County, to be copied after "Gunston Hall," the historical colonial mansion of founding father James Mason, located in Lorton, Virginia. However, prior to his death, Mr. Kearsé had transferred his farm to the Kearsé Educational Trust dated November 5, 1992 ["**Trust**"]. (R. pp. 309-26).

### **D. The Lawsuit**

#### (1) *The Pleadings*

---

<sup>1</sup>For ease of understanding, the Circuit Court, the Probate Court, and the parties have referred to the children individually by their first names (Respondent Beth has employed the given names of the Represented Respondents, i.e. Elizabeth rather than Beth and Julia rather than Julie).

On April 8, 2016, “J. Morgan Kears, Personal Representative of the Estate of G.H. Kears,” filed a Summons and Petition for Instructions in the Probate Court [“**Lawsuit**”] (R. pp. 46-52). Morgan executed the Summons as the sole attorney for the Personal Representative. Morgan executed the Petition as “J. Morgan Kears, PR/Petitioner” [“**PR/Petitioner**”] (R. p. 52).

Contrary to the PR/Petitioner’s later representation that he was simply seeking instructions as to what to do, he specifically asked the Probate Court to find that “the construction of the home is a major requirement of the Decedent’s will,” and that “sufficient funds are available to construct the home.” (R. p. 52). The PR/Petitioner’s unequivocal prayer was that the Probate Court issue an Order “directing the Personal Representative to proceed with the construction of the house in accordance with the Decedent’s intent as expressed in the Will. (R. p. 52).

The PR/Petitioner named all six children – including himself individually – as Respondents. Beth previously had hired Slotchiver & Slotchiver, LLP (Stephen M. Slotchiver) to represent her in the estate, and Mr. Slotchiver proceeded to represent her with respect to the Petition for Instructions as well. Julie hired Speights & Solomons, LLC (Daniel A. Speights) to represent her in the lawsuit. The other four siblings (Gordon, Rachael, Joseph, and Morgan) [collectively “**Unrepresented Respondents**”] did not then nor at anytime thereafter hire counsel to represent them in the lawsuit or file a response to the Petition despite two of these children being attorneys.

On June 6, 2016, the Allendale County Probate Judge (The Honorable Keith Smith) recused himself from the litigation and requested the appointment of a special Probate Court Judge because his Clerk was the wife of the Personal Representative. (R. pp. 5-6). Thereafter, on June 16, 2016, the Supreme Court appointed the Honorable Sheila Odom, Judge of Probate for Hampton County, as “special probate court judge” to preside in the matter [“**Probate Judge**”]. (R. p. 7).

In response to Julie's Motion to Dismiss, the PR/Petitioner filed an Amended Petition for Instructions in which he added the Kearsse Educational Trust and the six children (including Morgan) as its Trustees. (R. pp. 88-95). The pleadings were then joined with Julie's Answer to the Amended Petition on July 5, 2016. (R. pp. 101-106).

At that point, in addition to being a beneficiary and an individual Respondent in the lawsuit, Morgan wore at least five fiduciary hats: Personal Representative; Attorney for Personal Representative; Petitioner; Attorney for Petitioner; and Trustee. None of the pleadings reflected that Morgan had outside counsel in any capacity.

(2) *Discovery*

Beth (through Mr. Slotchiver) and Julie (through Mr. Speights) (collectively "**Represented Respondents**") propounded initial discovery in the lawsuit against the PR/Petitioner, including the service of written discovery and a Notice of Deposition of Morgan. The discovery went forward on September 7, 2016. Messrs. Slotchiver and Speights preliminarily reviewed a large number of documents which the PR/Petitioner produced for the first time that morning. Sweeny, Wingate & Barrow, P.A. (Mr. Wingate) appeared for the first time and defended Morgan's deposition that afternoon. Mr. Slotchiver completed his examination that evening. The parties then agreed that the deposition would resume on a mutually convenient date with Mr. Speights' examination as the next item of discovery.

Importantly, during his deposition, Mr. Slotchiver asked Mr. Wingate who his firm represented in this matter. In response, Mr. Wingate stated on the Record that his law firm represented Morgan in his fiduciary capacity as the Personal Representative and did not represent Morgan individually (neither Morgan nor his counsel has ever suggested that Mr. Wingate or any

members of his firm have represented Morgan individually). (R. p. 764 at p. 66). Appellant has confirmed to this Court that Mr. Wingate and Mr. Myers have never represented Morgan individually. (App. Brief p. 38).

(3) *The Motions*

Additionally, during the deposition, Morgan testified that he had consulted with Mr. Wingate and his sister Rachael (who is an attorney) in the preparation of the lawsuit. Julie was not aware of the lawsuit until it was served on her, and she was not aware that Mr. Wingate or Rachael had participated in its preparation until Morgan's deposition. This is particularly relevant because the lawsuit alleged that the estate should construct the Mason mansion favored by Morgan and Rachael but opposed by Beth and Julie.

Suffice it to say that the discovery did not go well for Morgan. (R. p. 134, ¶ 3; R. pp. 138-143). After receipt and review of the deposition and a full review of the documents, Beth (Mr. Slotchiver) filed a number of pleadings against the PR/Petitioner, including a Summons and Petition for Removal of the Petitioner as the Personal Representative and a Motion for Restraining Order against the PR. (R. pp. 107-115, 129-131). These pleadings alleged serious improprieties against Morgan and were supported by Beth's detailed sworn Affidavit. Among other things, Beth alleged that Morgan had mismanaged the estate for his personal gain. (R. pp. 109-115).

Notwithstanding these problems, Appellant continued to incur attorney's fees prosecuting the action, and required Beth and Julie to incur attorney's fees defending the action until the time of the February 2 hearing (and afterward). Julie just wanted to be out of the lawsuit and the estate not to pay for attorney's fees and expenses involved in the spurious lawsuit.

In addition, Beth (Mr. Slotchiver) filed a Motion for Summary Judgment as to the PR/Petitioner's Petition for Instructions. (R. pp. 116-118). The Motion for Summary Judgment asserted, *inter alia*, that the PR/Petitioner had no legal control over the property where the Will suggested a house should be built because the estate did not own that property, and that the Petitioner had no authority to direct the building of a house on that property. In addition, Beth pointed out that the PR/Petitioner had not made any determination as to the cost to build this structure, asserted that the estate had no funds earmarked for building the house, and challenged whether there were sufficient assets to construct the house.

Two days after Beth filed these motions, the PR/Petitioner (Mr. Wingate) filed a Motion to Dismiss his client's Petition for Instructions "on the grounds that the purpose for which the Petition was filed is no longer feasible, and the Petitioner wishes to voluntarily dismiss the action and file the necessary documents to close the Estate of G.H. Kearshe expeditiously in accordance with the South Carolina Probate Code." (R. pp. 160-166).

On January 20, 2017, Beth (Mr. Slotchiver) filed a Motion for Restraining Order. Beth asserted that the Personal Representative "has continued to issue checks on the Estate account since receiving notice of the removal Petition, in violation of S.C. Code § 62-3-611 (1976)," and has committed "additional acts of misappropriation of Estate funds and negligence on the part of the Personal Representative." (R. pp. 129-131).

The foregoing motions were scheduled to be heard on February 2, 2017. The day before the scheduled hearing, Beth (Mr. Slotchiver) filed a Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment (dated January 31, 2017). (R. pp. 133-144). As to the PR/Petitioner's Petition for Instructions, Beth asserted that "The Decedent did not own the real estate on which Decedent

requested the building of the house described in his Will” and was “without authority to compel such an action on land owned by another;” that there “are no specific funds earmarked by Decedent for the building of the house” and “no funding to fulfill this directive;” and that “Petitioner made assertions, totally unsupported, that the estate has sufficient funds to build the house.” (R. p. 143).

**E. The Settlement (February 1, 2017)**

Unlike Morgan and two of her sisters (Beth and Rachael), Julie is not a lawyer. After Morgan was appointed as the Personal Representative, she looked to him to competently and impartially administer her father’s estate. Suddenly and without warning, however, Julie’s brother sued her, and she was forced to hire counsel.<sup>2</sup> As a result of discovery in that lawsuit, she was distressed to learn that her father’s estate was being wasted.

While she has strong views on a number of issues, Julie was summoned into this lawsuit by the PR/Petitioner, who chose to name her as a Respondent. As reflected in the settlement, Julie’s primary interest from the outset was that her father’s estate should not pay any of the attorney’s fees in this matter incurred by the PR/Petitioner’s baseless lawsuit instead of going to the Educational Trust which was obviously near and dear to Mr. Kearsse’s heart. (R. pp. 463-485). Julie was particularly adamant that her father’s estate should not pay her counsel fees. (R. p. 480, ¶ 3).

Julie supported Beth’s motions, but in addition, her counsel (Mr. Speights) invested a substantial amount of time attempting to negotiate a resolution of this unfortunate family dispute. Julie’s counsel (Mr. Speights) and PR/Petitioner’s counsel (Mr. Wingate) ultimately negotiated a

---

<sup>2</sup> Julie (Mr. Speights) was not informed of the involvement of the law firm of Sweeny, Wingate & Barrow, PA (Kenneth B. Wingate and subsequently Matthew J. Myers) until at least five months after the firm began to work with the Personal Representative and another sibling (Rachael) in preparing the lawsuit against Julie and the other siblings. (J. Morgan Kearsse deposition taken 9/7/16).

peace treaty. It is undisputed that on February 1, 2017, the day before the foregoing motions were scheduled to be heard, the parties agreed to a final written settlement [**“Term Sheet”**]. (R. pp. 463-485).

The Term Sheet was essentially a settlement among the six children, who were named individually as Respondents in the lawsuit. Among other things, the Term Sheet required Morgan individually – not as the PR/Petitioner – to pay certain attorney’s fees. The Term Sheet did not impose any conditions on the PR/Petitioner.

**F. The Settlement Confirmation (February 1, 2017)**

There is no question that all of the parties and their counsel reached an agreement on February 1, 2017. There is no question that PR/Petitioner’s counsel (Mr. Wingate) informed the Probate Court in writing that afternoon that the parties had reached an agreement which Julie’s attorney (Mr. Speights) would read into the Record the next day. There is no question that no one notified the Court, Beth (Mr. Slotchiver) or Julie (Mr. Speights) of any problems with the settlement before the hearing the following day.

Importantly, the Appellant has never attempted to refute any of the findings of fact about the negotiation of the Term Sheet as set forth by the Probate Court in its written Order upholding the settlement:

- “The day before the scheduled hearing, however, Mr. Wingate advised the Court that, **“The parties have reached a global settlement** in this matter, including the siblings who are pro se parties” [Letter from Wingate to Court at 5:09 p.m.].” (R. p. 793)(emphasis added). (R. p. 9).
- “Mr. Wingate further advised the Court that, ‘Dan Speights will appear at the scheduled time tomorrow **to read the agreement into the record**, and will have a court reporter present.’” (R. p. 9)(emphasis added).

- “Finally, Mr. Wingate advised the Court that, ‘**Among the terms of the agreement**, as you will see, my Petition for Instructions and Mr. Slotchiver's Petition for Removal of Personal Representative will be withdrawn, Morgan Kearsse will resign as Personal Representative, and **an agreed-upon special administrator will be appointed to conclude the administration of the probate estate.**” (R. p. 9)(emphasis added).

It is undisputed that when the sun set in the lowcountry on February 1, 2017, all Mr. Kearsse's children had agreed to the Term Sheet. However, after his resignation, Appellant offered evidence – which the Probate Court rejected – in which he averred that sometime that evening, he decided to “back out” of the Term Sheet. (R. p. 23, ¶ 2).

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